IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

NO. 20-0303

**IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR MILLS COUNTY
CASE NO. LACV026844**

**TERRY K. JONES & CHRISTINE JONES,
Plaintiff-Appellees,**

v.

**THE GLENWOOD GOLF CORPORATION,
Defendant-Appellant**

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR MILLS COUNTY
HONORABLE JUDGE RICHARD DAVIDSON, PRESIDING**

**FINAL BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT OF
DEFENDANT/APPELLANT**

**William H. Larson, #AT0009088
Rene Charles Lapierre, #AT0004547
Zachary D. Clausen #AT0013741
KLASS LAW FIRM, L.L.P.
4280 Sergeant Road, Suite 290
Sioux City, IA 51106
Larson@klasslaw.com, Lapierre@klasslaw.com,
zclausen@klasslaw.com
712/252-1866
712/252-5822 fax
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT,

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN THE APPLICATION OF CHAPTER 668

AUTHORITIES

CASES

Beganovic v. Muxfeldt, 775 N.W.2d 313 (Iowa 2009)
Biddle v. Sartori Memorial Hosp., 518 N.W.2d 795 (Iowa 1994)
Jamieson v. Harrison, 532 N.W.2d 779, 781 (Iowa 1995)
Johnson v. Junkmann, 395 N.W.2d 862 (Iowa 1986)
Kragnes v. City of Des Moines, 714 N.W.2d 632 (Iowa 2006)
Mercy Hosp. v. Goodner, 858 N.W.2d 36 (table op.), 2014 WL 5243377 at *1 (Iowa Ct. App. 2014)
Thomas v. Solberg, 442 N.W.2d 73, 77 (Iowa 1989)

STATUTES

Iowa Code § 668.2
Iowa Code § 668.3
Iowa Code § 668.7

OTHER AUTHORITIES

**II. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN
DENYING DEFENDANT/APPELLANT’S MOTION FOR
SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON PLAINTIFFS’ CLAIM
UNDER IOWA CODE § 321.493**

AUTHORITIES

CASES

Aid Ins. Co. v. Davis County, 426 N.W.2d 631 (Iowa 1988)
Beganovic v. Muxfeldt, 775 N.W.2d 313, 318 (Iowa 2009)
Biddle v. Sartori Memorial Hosp., 518 N.W.2d 795 (Iowa 1994)
Bruce’s Estate v. B.C.D., Inc., 396 F. Supp. 157 (S.D. Iowa 1975)
Cunha v. Colon, 792 A.2d 832 (Conn. 2002)
DelSanto v. Hyundai Motor Finance Co., 882 A.2d 561 (R.I. 2005)
Estate of Dean by Dean v. Air Exec, Inc., 534 N.W.2d 103 (Iowa 1995)
Estate of Williams ex rel. Williams v. Vandeberg, 620 N.W.2d 187 (S.D. 2000)
Hook v. Trevino, 839 N.W.2d 434 (Iowa 2013)
Kaiser v. Allen, 746 N.W.2d 92 (Mich. 2008)
Kragnes v. City of Des Moines, 714 N.W.2d 632 (Iowa 2006)
Nelson v. Johnson, 599 N.W.2d 246 (N.D.1999).
Peters v. Lyons, 168 N.W.2d 759 (Iowa 1969)
Seastrom v. Farm Bureau Life Ins. Co., 601 N.W.2d 339 (Iowa 1999)
Smith v. CRST Intern., Inc., 553 N.W.2d 890 (Iowa 1996)
Stuart v. Pilgrim, 74 N.W.2d 212 (Iowa 1956).
Theophelis v. Lansing General Hospital, 424 N.W.2d 478 (Mich. 1988)
Thomas v. Solberg, 442 N.W.2d 73, 77 (Iowa 1989)
Waits v. United Fire & Cas. Co., 572 N.W.2d 565 (Iowa 1997)

STATUTES

Iowa Code § 321.493
Iowa Code § 668.7

OTHER AUTHORITIES

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.981(3).
Black's Law Dictionary 1335 (5th ed. 1979)

III. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING PLAINTIFF/APPELLEE'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL

AUTHORITIES

CASES

Blume v. Auer, 576 N.W.2d 122 (Iowa Ct. App. 1997)
Brant v. Bockholt, 532 N.W.2d 801 (Iowa 1995)
Bryant v. Parr, 872 N.W.2d 366 (Iowa 2015).
Claus v. Whyte, 526 N.W.2d 519 (Iowa 1994)
Cowan v. Flannery, 461 N.W.2d 155 (Iowa 1990)
Ege v. Born, 236 N.W. 75, 82 (Iowa 1931)
Estate of Pearson ex rel. Latta v. Interstate Power and Light Co., 700 N.W.2d 333 (Iowa 2005)
Foggia v. Des Moines Bowl-O-Mat, Inc., 543 N.W.2d 889 (Iowa 1996)
Fry v. Blauvelt, 818 N.W.2d 123 (Iowa 2012)
Gorden v. Carey, 603 N.W.2d 588 (Iowa 1999)
Kerndt v. Rolling Hills Nat. Bank, 558 N.W.2d 410 (Iowa 1997).
Olsen v. Drahos, 229 N.W.2d 741 (Iowa 1975)
Pexa v. Auto Owners Ins. Co., 686 N.W.2d 150 (Iowa 2004)
Roling v. Daily, 596 N.W.2d 72 (Iowa 1999)
Tim O'Neill Chevrolet, Inc. v. Forristall, 551 N.W.2d 611 (Iowa 1996)

STATUTES

OTHER AUTHORITIES

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Supreme Court because it presents certain issues of first impression with regard to the owner's responsibility statute under Iowa Code § 321.493. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(e). Furthermore, the application of Chapter 668, a released party, and the proportionate credit rule is an issue of broad importance that should be addressed by the Supreme Court. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(d).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE/FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY OF THE LITIGATION

The Glenwood Golf Corporation is the named defendant in the above-captioned matter, which is pending in the District Court for Mills County, Iowa. (App. 7–9). The Petition was filed on August 31, 2018. (*Id.*). Defendant filed an answer on September 14, 2018. (App. 10–12). This matter proceeded to jury trial on October 1, 2019. The jury returned a verdict at approximately 4:00 p.m. on October 4, 2019. (App. 104).

This case arises out of a golf cart accident that occurred at The Glenwood Golf Course located in Mills County, Iowa, on September 14, 2017. (App. 7–8). Plaintiff Terry K. Jones was a passenger in a golf cart driven by his son, Jeff Jones,¹ at the Glenwood Golf Course. (*Id.*). The

¹ Jeffrey Jones will be referred to throughout as “Jeff” Jones, although he is referred to as both “Jeffrey” and “Jeff” throughout the pleadings.

Glenwood Golf Course is owned and operated by Defendant, the Glenwood Golf Corporation (hereinafter “Glenwood). (App. 7–10). Jeff Jones and Plaintiff Terry K. Jones were crossing a bridge in the golf cart when Jeff Jones struck the left side of the bridge, thereby ejecting Plaintiff Terry K. Jones from the passenger seat onto the creek bed below the bridge. (App. 7–8).

Prior to the commencement of this lawsuit, Plaintiffs entered into a settlement agreement with Jeff Jones and Liberty Mutual Insurance Company, releasing Jeff Jones from any liability related to the accident that is the subject of this litigation. (App. 27–38). The plain language of the release “covers the released parties’ proportionate responsibility for all injuries and damages, whether known or not, and which may hereafter appear or develop arising from the matters referred to above.” (App. 31).

Plaintiffs brought two claims against Defendant in this lawsuit. First, Plaintiffs alleged that Defendant Glenwood is liable “for damages caused by reason of the negligence of the driver of such vehicle in accordance with Chapter 321.493 of the Iowa Code.” (App. 8, ¶ 17). Plaintiffs also alleged that Glenwood “breached its duty as the owner of the Glenwood Golf Course, pursuant to the Restatement (Second) of Torts, Section 344, to

protect Plaintiff Terry K. Jones from the accidental, negligent, or intentional harmful acts of third persons, including Jeff Jones.” (App. 8, ¶ 16).

On October 24, 2018, Glenwood filed a Motion for Summary Judgment seeking dismissal of Plaintiffs’ claims against it. (App. 13–14). Glenwood argued that Jeff Jones was a released party and thus, any claim against Glenwood under the owner’s consent statute found in Iowa Code § 321.493 is extinguished. (App. 15–24, 52–58). Plaintiffs subsequently filed their own motion for summary judgment. (*See* App. 59). A hearing on both parties’ motions for summary judgment was held before the Honorable Judge Richard H. Davidson on January 8, 2019.² (App. 59). The District Court, in its Order dated March 1, 2019, denied both Glenwood’s motion and Plaintiffs’ motion.³

At trial, the jury found Glenwood, as owner of the golf course, not at fault under Plaintiffs’ premises liability theory pursuant to section 344 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts. (App. 101–103). Under the owner’s responsibility claim, the jury found Jeff Jones, the driver of the golf cart and released party, 100 percent at fault. (*Id.*). The jury awarded Plaintiffs \$500,000 in damages. (*Id.*). The Court entered a judgment entry and setoff

² The Order Ruling on Plaintiffs’ and Defendant’s Motions for Summary Judgment, incorrectly notes that this hearing was held on December 7, 2018.

³ Glenwood also moved for dismissal of Plaintiffs’ claim under section 344 of the Restatement (Second). However, this portion of the motion is not at issue in this appeal.

on October 15, 2019. (App. 104–105). In doing so, the Court stated as follows:

Jeffrey Jones is a released party having entered into a settlement with Plaintiffs. The amount paid to Plaintiffs by Jeffrey Jones in that settlement is in excess of the total damages awarded by the jury in this case under the owner liability claim. Because the jury did not find or assign Glenwood Golf Corporation any percentage of fault under the tort claim theory the court must reduce Plaintiffs' recovery considering the Jeffrey Jones settlement. Accordingly, the court reduces the award of \$500,000 against Defendant Glenwood Golf Corporation, as owner of the golf cart operated by Jeffrey Jones, to zero dollars.

(App. 105).

Plaintiffs subsequently filed a motion for new trial and request for additur on October 18, 2019. (App. 107–113). This motion for new trial requested a new trial solely on the issue of the damages awarded to Plaintiff Terry K. Jones. (*Id.*). Plaintiffs did not contest the apportionment of fault allocated by the jury, did not file a motion for new trial on liability, and did not request a new trial or additur relating to the damages awarded to Christine Jones. (*Id.*). On February 9, 2020, the Court granted Plaintiffs' motion for a new trial and ordered a new trial on the issue of damages. (App. 134–138). This includes a new trial on the damages awarded to Plaintiff Christine Jones, despite Plaintiffs not having asked for a motion for new trial or additur relating to Plaintiff Christine Jones' damages. (*See* App. 107–113).

Defendant appeals the ruling on the motion for new trial, the denial of Defendant's motion for summary judgment, and the application of Chapter 668, maintaining that Jeff Jones' fault should have been discharged under the comparative fault act. Plaintiff/Appellees have not filed a cross-appeal in this matter, therefore, the apportionment of fault and the finding of no liability under the premises liability claim is not at issue.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN THE APPLICATION OF CHAPTER 668

ERROR PRESERVATION

Defendant/Appellant preserved error on this issue by moving for summary judgment on the grounds that Plaintiffs' Claim under the owner's responsibility statute should be dismissed pursuant to Chapter 668. The District Court, in ruling on Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, decided how it would apply Chapter 668 at the time of trial. At the time that the Court entered its judgment entry and setoff following trial, Defendant/Appellant owed nothing as the damages were reduced to zero. Now that Plaintiff/Appellee's Motion for New Trial has been granted, the Court's application of chapter 668, originally decided via summary judgment, and later employed in the judgment entry and setoff, is ripe for

judicial review. This includes the district court's consideration of, and ruling on Plaintiffs' Motion for New Trial.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court reviews a District Court's entry of judgment for errors at law. *Mercy Hosp. v. Goodner*, 858 N.W.2d 36 (table op.), 2014 WL 5243377 at *1 (Iowa Ct. App. 2014) (citations omitted). Additionally, the Court reviews a summary judgment ruling for errors at law. *See Kragnes v. City of Des Moines*, 714 N.W.2d 632, 637 (Iowa 2006). "[The] scope of review of a ruling on a motion for a new trial depends on the grounds asserted in the motion. To the extent the motion is based on a discretionary ground, [it is] review[ed] for an abuse of discretion." *Roling v. Daily*, 596 N.W.2d 72, 76 (Iowa 1999).

A. The Iowa Comparative Fault Act Mandates The Discharge of Jeff Jones' Fault

While Defendant maintains that the owner's responsibility claim should have been disposed of previously via summary judgment, the issue on appeal is now black and white—as Jeff Jones, a released party, has been assigned 100 percent of the fault in this action by the jury, his proportionate fault should be discharged, as mandated by the Iowa Comparative Fault Act.

Iowa Code § 668.7 reads as follows: "A release, covenant not to sue, or similar agreement entered into by a claimant and a person liable

discharges that person from all liability for contribution, but it does not discharge any other persons liable upon the same unless it so provides. However, the claim of the releasing person against other persons is reduced by the amount of the released person's equitable share of the obligation, as determined in section 668.3, subsection 4." Iowa Code § 668.7 (Iowa 2019) (emphasis added).

This is a comparative fault case. As such, the district court is bound by the Comparative Fault Act. Under the Comparative Fault Act found in Iowa Code § 668.3(2)(b), Glenwood and Jeff Jones were treated as a single party for the purposes of determining the percentage of fault attributable to Jeff Jones for any liability arising under the owner's responsibility statute. *See Beganovic v. Muxfeldt*, 775 N.W.2d 313, 318 n.4 (Iowa 2009). The treatment of Jeff Jones and Glenwood as a single party for purposes of this claim is evidenced by Jeff Jones' line on the verdict form.

Based on the plain language of the Comparative Fault Act, the claim of Terry and Christine Jones is required to be discharged by the released person's equitable share of the obligation—i.e., Jeff Jones' share. As Jeff Jones was found 100 percent at fault in this action, the court should not have reached the issue of setoff, let alone considered a motion for new trial,

because Glenwood's liability was discharged when Plaintiff released Jeff Jones.

However, in the judgment entry and setoff, the district court stated as follows:

Jeffrey Jones is a released party having entered into a settlement with Plaintiffs. The amount paid to Plaintiffs by Jeffrey Jones in that settlement claim is in excess of the total damages awarded by the jury in this case under the owner liability claim. Because the jury did not find or assign Glenwood Golf Corporation any percentage of fault under the tort claim theory the court must reduce Plaintiffs' recovery considering the Jeffrey Jones settlement. Accordingly, the court reduces the award of \$500,000 against Defendant Glenwood Golf Corporation, as owner of the golf cart operated by Jeffrey Jones, to zero dollars.

(App. 105).

While the law under the comparative fault act is clear, it is evident the court disregarded this concept while entering the jury verdict following trial and in even considering a new trial, even though the court admitted being aware that the Iowa Comparative Fault Act controlled at the time of its ruling on Defendant's motion for summary judgment:

[A]ccording to Iowa Code § 668.3(4) . . . "any damages allowed shall be diminished in proportion to the amount of fault attributable to the claimant." (citation omitted). "The claim of the released person against other persons is reduced by the amount of the released person's equitable share of the obligation, as determined in § 668.3 (4). Iowa Code § 668.7.

(App. 63).

Despite correctly quoting this language, the court continued, “Therefore a credit would be applied if liability was found against Glenwood to offset the prior settlement with Jeff Jones.” *Id.* The court ultimately followed this reasoning after trial in applying a *pro tanto* credit in the judgment entry and setoff.

The court has since granted a new trial on the issue of damages, in a case where a released party’s degree of fault as determined by the jury should have been discharged under the Iowa Comparative Fault Act.⁴

B. Glenwood and Jeff Jones Were Treated as a Single Party under the Comparative Fault Act.

As mentioned above, under the Comparative Fault Act found in Iowa Code § 668.3(2) (b), the District Court has discretion to “determine that two or more persons are to be treated as a single party” for the purposes of allocating fault. Here, the district court correctly determined that Jeff Jones, and Glenwood as owner of the golf cart, were to be treated as a single party on the verdict form. (App. 88, 101–102). This is consistent with the Comparative Fault Act and the owner’s responsibility statute, which “impos[es] liability on an owner for the actionable negligence of the driver,”

⁴ This includes the granting of a new trial on damages for Plaintiff Christine Jones, relief which was not sought in Plaintiffs’ motion for new trial.

as there is no “actionable negligence” on behalf of Glenwood for purposes of this claim. *Beganovic*, 775 N.W.2d at 318 n.4.

Therefore, as mandated by Iowa Code §§ 668.7 and 668.3(4), the verdict and damages are to be reduced by Jeff Jones’ equitable share of the obligation, i.e., 100 percent. The discharge of fault should equally discharge Glenwood from the same claim, as there is no independent act of negligence for which the jury assigned Glenwood fault.

To the extent that there is disagreement on the treatment of Jeff Jones and Glenwood as a single party for purposes of liability under Plaintiffs’ claim under the owner’s responsibility statute, liability, the allocation of fault, the verdict form, and the treatment of Jeff Jones and Appellant as a single party are not at issue on appeal.

C. The Proportionate Credit Rule and not the *Pro Tanto* Rule Applies.

In the judgment entry and considering Plaintiffs’ motion for new trial, the Court applied a *pro tanto* credit, rather than applying the proportionate credit rule. (App. 104–105). The case of *Thomas v. Solberg*, 442 N.W.2d 73 (Iowa 1989) is controlling on the application of the proportionate credit rule.

The case involved three defendants, two of whom settled before trial. *Thomas*, 442 N.W.2d at 73. The two settling defendants were Steven

White and Sheila White. *Id.* At 73–74. Steven was the driver of the vehicle owned by Sheila White, who was named as a defendant pursuant to her ownership of the vehicle. *Id.* At trial, Steven White and Sheila White were treated as one party for purposes of allocating fault pursuant to Iowa Code Section 668.3(2) (b). *Id.* at 74. The jury assigned 49 percent of the fault to Steven White. *Id.* The remaining 51 percent of fault was allocated to Diane Solberg, the remaining defendant at trial. *Id.*

The question before the Iowa Supreme Court on appeal from the non-settling defendant was whether, under Iowa’s comparative fault act, the favorable settlement should inure to the benefit of the plaintiff or the non-settling defendant. *Id.* In other words, the Iowa Supreme Court considered whether the plaintiff’s recovery should be reduced by the amount paid by the settling defendant (*pro tanto*), or whether the recovery against a non-settling defendant should be reduced by the percentage of fault attributed to the settling defendant (proportionate credit). *See Id.* at 75. The Iowa Supreme Court by and through Justice Lavorato reasoned that the combined effect of Iowa Code sections 668.7 and 668.3(2) (b) compelled application of the proportionate credit rule. *Id.* at 78. The court stated that the “language in sections 668.7 and 668.3 can be reduced to the following statement: the

plaintiff's recovery against non-settling defendants is reduced by the percentage of fault allocated to settling defendants." *Id.* at 76–77.

Accordingly, the Iowa Supreme Court held that the district court correctly reduced the verdict by the degree of fault attributed to Steven White, as the released party/driver of a vehicle owned by Sheila White, as there was no separate finding of fault against Sheila White as the owner of the vehicle. *See id.* at 78; Iowa Code § 668.3(2) (b) (instructing court to treat defendants, where appropriate, “as a single party” for purposes of allocating fault); *Biddle v. Sartori Memorial Hosp.*, 518 N.W.2d 795, 799 (Iowa 1994) (stating doctor and hospital-vicariously liable for doctor’s negligence-“were properly ‘treated as a single party’” for purposes of release obtained by doctor (citing Iowa Code section 668.3(2) (b))).

Consequently, a reading of Code Section 668.7 and Iowa case law indicates that Plaintiffs’ recovery should be reduced by the released party, Jeff Jones’ equitable share of the obligation—in this case 100 percent.

Appellee will almost certainly argue that the court correctly applied a *pro tanto* credit. It is true that the *pro tanto* credit rule continues to apply to cases not within the scope of the comparative fault statute.” *See Jamieson v. Harrison*, 532 N.W.2d 779, 781 (Iowa 1995) (citations omitted) (noting that comparative fault was inapplicable to a dram shop action). However, this

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