IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA NO. 20-0303 IN THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR MILLS COUNTY CASE NO. LACV026844 TERRY K. JONES AND CHRISTINE JONES, Plaintiffs-Appellees, v. THE GLENWOOD GOLF CORPORATION Defendant-Appellant APPEAL FROM THE MILLS COUNTY DISTRICT COURT HON. RICHARD DAVIDSON, PRESIDING JUDGE PLAINTIFFS-APPELLEES' FINAL BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

STEPHEN A. RUBES
JOSEPH J. HRVOL, P.C.
541 Sixth Avenue
Council Bluffs, Iowa 51503
(712) 322-0133
s_rubes@hotmail.com
ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFFS-APPELLEES

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY APPLIED CHAPTER 668 OF THE CODE.

Authorities

CASES:

Beganovic v. Muxfeldt, 775 NW2d 313, 318 N. 4 (Iowa 2009)

Estate of Dean v. Air Exec. Inc., 534 NW2d 103 104-106 (Iowa 1995)

Smith v. CRST Int'l, Inc., 533 NW2d 890, 894 (Iowa 1996).

Thomas v. Solberg, 442 NW2d 73 (Iowa 1989)

STATUTES:

Iowa Code §321.493

Iowa Code §668.3(4)

Iowa Code §668.7

II. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DENIED THE DEFENDANT/APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON PLAINTIFFS' CLAIM UNDER IOWA CODE §321.493.

Authorities

CASES:

Aid Ins. Co. v. Davis County, 426 NW2d 631, 635 (Iowa 1988)

Beganovic v. Muxfeldt, 775NW2d 313, 318 N. 4 (Iowa 2009)

Biddle v. Sartori Memorial Hosp. 518 NW2d 795 (Iowa 1994)

Brosamle v. Mapco Products, Inc., 427 NW2d 473 (Iowa 1988).

Bruce's Estate v. B.C.D., Inc., 396 F. Supp. 157 (S.D. Iowa 1975

Community School District v. Gordon N. Petersen, Inc., 176 NW2d 169 (Iowa 1970)

Conner v. Thompson Constr. Co. & Dev. Co., 166 NW2d 109, 113 (Iowa 1969)

Cunha v. Colon, 792 A.2d 832 (Conn. 2002)

DelSanto v. Hyundai Motor Finance Co., 882 A.2d 561, 565 (R.I. 2005)

Estate of Williams ex rel. Williams v. Vandeberg, 620 NW2d 187, 191 (S.D. 2000)

Hook v. Trevino, 839 NW2d 434 (Iowa 2013)

Kaiser v. Allen, 746 NW2d 92 (Mich. 2008)

Klinger v. Holtze v. Sulzbach Constr. Co., 262 NW2d 290, 294 (Iowa 1978)

Manke v. Fernandez, unpublished opinion No. 01-00048, 2002 WL 1071922

Peak v. Adams, 799 NW2d 535 (Iowa 2011)

Seastrom v. Farm Bureau Life Ins. Co., 601 NW2d 339 (Iowa 1999)

Theophelis v. Lansing General Hospital, 424 NW2d 478 (Mich, 1988)

Thomas v. Solberg, 442 NW2d 73 (Iowa 1989)

Waits v. United Fire & Cas. Co., 572 NW2d 565, 572 (Iowa 1997).

STATUTES:

Iowa Code §321.493 Iowa Code §668.3(4) Iowa Code §668.7

III. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN GRANTING THE PLAINTIFFS A NEW TRIAL ON DAMAGES.

Authorities

CASES:

Brant v. Bockholt, 532 NW2d 801, 805 (Iowa 1995) (Bryant v. Parr, 872 NW2d 366 (Iowa 2015) Pexa v. Auto Owners Ins. Co., 686 NW2d 150 (Iowa 2004)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE/FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY OF THE LITIGATION

Terry and Christine Jones agree with the statement of the case/facts and procedural history of the litigation of the defendant, but wanted to include some additional information for the court. The Glenwood Golf Corporation (hereinafter "GGC") is the owner of the golf cart being driven by Jeff Jones on September 14, 2017 in which Terry K. Jones rode as a passenger. Terry Jones was ejected from the golf cart off of a bridge and into a creek 25 feet below filled with concrete and reinforcement bar causing Terry catastrophic personal injuries and damages. The nature and extent of his life-threatening injuries were confirmed by the various health care providers, Terry Jones and his wife, Christine, at trial.

The release entered into by Terry and Christine Jones and their son, Jeff Jones, and his home owner's insurance provider, Liberty Mutual Insurance Company, preserved all claims against the non-settling defendant, GGC, as contemplated by the comparative fault act and its underlying policy encouraging settlement of cases over trial (App. p. 27, release/Exhibit "A" to GGC's Motion for Summary Judgment). The plaintiffs resisted GGC's Motion for Summary Judgment. (App. p. 39, plaintiffs' resistance to defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment).

Plaintiffs resist the defendant's appeal on all grounds.

THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY APPLIED CHAPTER 668 OF THE CODE

The plaintiffs-appellees agree that the defendant-appellant preserved error on the issues raised in the appeal and that the scope and standard of review for the arguments under issues I and II are for errors at law and that the scope and standard of review with regard to argument III is for an abuse of discretion.

Defendant's arguments IA, IB and IC are interrelated and will be addressed as a whole herein. The defendant contends throughout that the claim of Terry and Christine Jones was discharged as to GGC when GGC's consensual driver was released by the plaintiffs prior to trial. In so doing, the defendant asks the court to accept the defendant's contention and ignore the plain language of Iowa Code §668.7 and 668.3(4) and the plain language of Iowa Code §321.493, along with the language of the release itself. Iowa Code §668.7 contemplates, allows, and in fact, encourages partial settlements. The language of the statute was utilized in the drafting of the release the Jones' signed releasing the consensual driver, Jeff Jones, and his insurance carrier. The release specifically preserved the Jones' claim against GGC as the owner of the vehicle operated by the consensual driver. Iowa Code §321.493 is the very reason GGC and the consensual driver were treated as a single party at trial for the purpose of determining the percentage of fault attributable to the consensual driver under the owner's responsibility statute. This

is a common practice in Iowa in cases involving consensual drivers and owners. See <u>Beganovic v. Muxfeldt</u>, 775NW2d 313, 318 N. 4 (Iowa 2009).

Under Iowa Code §321.493, GGC, as owner is responsible to pay damages caused by its' consensual driver and GGC's obligation to pay damages was not released by Terry and Christine Jones and in fact was specifically reserved in the (App. p. 27, Release/Exhibit "A" to GGC's Motion for Summary release. Judgment). Iowa Code §321.493 makes the owner of the motor vehicle liable for damage, not fault. If the legislature had wanted the "fault" of the consensual driver and owner compared, presumably it would have so stated. Instead, the legislature chose to couch the operative effect of the statute itself only in terms of the damages. Likewise, Iowa Code §668.7 speaks of the released person's equitable share of the "obligation" which, again, speaks only to "damages" as evidenced by 668.7's reference back to 668.3(4), which requires the court to determine the amount of damages payable to any claimant in accordance with the finding of the court or jury. Defendant's continuing assertion that the statutes relate to fault is a misinterpretation. Under the provisions of Iowa Code §668.3(4), the defendant is entitled to a credit based on the released person's equitable share of the "obligation" (i.e. damages) as directed by Iowa Code §668.7.

The cases cited in support of defendant's argument equating Iowa Code §321.493 with vicarious liability are clearly distinguishable. As noted in Beganovic v. Muxfeldt, 775 NW 313 (2009) at footnote 4.

Vicarious liability is broadly defined as liability a person bears for the actionable conduct of another person because of a relationship between the two parties. Black's Law Dictionary 934 (8th ed 2004). We recognize our owners' responsibility statute does not operate to impute the driver's liability to the owner, but imposes liability by imputing the driver's negligence to the owner. Estate of Dean v. Air Exec. Inc., 534 NW2d 103 104-106 (Iowa 1995). In other words, the liability imposed under the statute is the owner's own liability. Id. This liability versus negligence dichotomy has been important in helping us decide that a legal defense against liability possessed by the driver does not inure to the owner. Id.; Smith v. CRST Int'l, Inc., 533 NW2d 890, 894 (Iowa 1996). Nevertheless, the owners' responsibility statute remains under the umbrella of vicarious liability by imposing liability on an owner for the actionable negligence of the driver.

This court has in fact recognized the liability versus negligence dichotomy in Estate of Dean v. Air Exec. Inc., 534 NW2d 103 (Iowa 1995), holding the owner of an aircraft piloted by a co-employee of the deceased liable for the estate's damages and disregarding the immunity of the pilot under the Iowa Workman's Compensation Law, holding that immunity did not inure to the owner of the aircraft. The court stated

"It would appear illogical for an owner's liability statute to impose a general liability by a legislative fiat without regard to the relationship between the operator and owner and yet permit defenses by the owner that depend on relationships that play no role in creating the statutory liability" at page. 4.

The court held it was the negligence of the operator rather than the liability of the operator that triggered the liability of the owner. Smith v. CRST Int'l, Inc., 533 NW2d 890, (Iowa 1996) is in accord. It would seem inconsistent to allow the defendant's contention that a partial settlement of the Jones' claim for damages specifically reserving the balance of their claim against the owner of the golf cart would immunize GGC.

Although the defendant contends the trial court applied a pro tanto credit in the judgment entry as a setoff, that is not apparent in the judgment entry. The case of Thomas v. Solberg, 442 NW2d 73 (Iowa 1989) states that the pro tanto credit is not appropriate in a comparative fault case and that the proportionate credit rule based on the settling defendant's fault is to be utilized instead. However, the rationale of Thomas v. Solberg does not apply unless fault is being compared. In this case, the defendant GGC is statutorily liable for all of the damages caused by the fault of their consensual driver. They have no independent fault to compare with the consensual driver. The jury found 100% of the fault in this case to belong to defendant's consensual driver and none on the part of the plaintiff. It is, in fact, not a comparative fault case based on the jury's finding and therefore the judge's order in regard to the credit was correct.

The problem with the application of Thomas v. Solberg, 442 NW2d 73 is that it involved an actual comparison of fault between the tort feasors. Stephen White, a consensual driver, and Sheila White were part of the cause of the collision and Diane Solberg shared part of the fault of the collision as well. Importantly, Sheila White, the owner, was a party to the release in that case unlike the defendant herein. In this case, there is no sharing of fault. Whether the court treated the settlement amount of defendant's consensual driver as a pro tanto credit or as a proportional credit, the result is the same. Under Solberg, Jeff Jones' 100% finding of fault translates to a 100% proportional credit which would be the same as a pro tanto credit in this particular case. However, the effect of the jury's finding of fault limits the effect of that finding to ascertaining the amount of the credit. It does not discharge GGC from its separate liability under 321.493 for the damages caused by their consensual driver's fault. The release executed by the Jones properly preserves this claim in accordance with the language of 668.7 and the case law. Essentially, defendant argues that the adjustment of the credit based on the Whites' fault in Solberg against the total judgment based on their fault, somehow removes any obligation for the damages sustained by the Jones for which defendant remains liable pursuant to the provisions of Iowa Code §321.493. This conflation of fault, liability for damage, recovery and appropriate credit lie at the heart of defendant's entire argument at IA, IB, IC and II of its brief.

THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DENIED THE DEFENDANT/APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON PLAINTIFFS' CLAIM UNDER IOWA CODE §321.493.

The plaintiffs-appellees agree that the defendant-appellant preserved error on the issues raised in the appeal and that the scope and standard of review for the arguments under issues I and II are for errors at law and that the scope and standard of review with regard to argument III is for an abuse of discretion.

The defendant goes on at II, page 23 of its brief to make the same arguments against the backdrop of the hearing on motion for summary judgment as opposed to the jury's verdict. Defendant continues to strive to create identity between the owner liability statute and common law relationships like employer/employee and principal/agent to support its argument that it was discharged by the release herein. In fact, the owner liability statute is in derogation of the common law and completely different considerations apply to each. For example, unlike the employer/employee situation, the consensual driver of a motor vehicle does not answer to the owner of the vehicle in any way. Likewise, in principal and agent situations, the principal has control over its agent. The owner of a consensual driver has none. For this reason, the Iowa Legislature adopted the owner liability statute which simply makes the owner responsible for all of the damage caused by the consensual driver. Again, Iowa Code §321.493 makes it clear that the liability

imposed under this statute is the owner's own liability as stated in Beganovic v. Muxfeldt, 775 NW 313 (2009) at note 4. This is the reason defendant's reliance on Biddle v. Sartori Memorial Hosp. 518 NW2d 795 (Iowa 1994) is misplaced. The reason that the court held the release of the doctor also released the hospital in that case is the doctrine of respondeat superior, true vicarious liability based on the employer/employee relationship not present in this case. The essential difference is that there is no owner liability statute like Iowa Code §321.493 at play in Biddle v. Sartori Memorial Hosp. 518 NW2d 795 (Iowa 1994). Of further note, it does not appear in Biddle that the claims against the hospital were reserved in the As noted by the trial court herein, Iowa Code §321.493 does not release. specifically exclude liability if the driver is released by settlement. Further, no case in Iowa provides an escape from liability under Section 321.493 in the case of a released party. In Thomas v. Solberg, 442 NW2d 73 (Iowa 1989), Mrs. White didn't have a separate policy of insurance as did the defendant herein and the Jones' did not release defendant as Mrs. White was released in the Solberg case. Here, Terry and Christine Jones specifically reserved their uncompensated damage claim against GGC.

At page 25 of its brief, the defendant acknowledges that the effect of a settlement is determined by the intent of the parties to the settlement as shown by the terms of the settlement documents citing Waits v. United Fire & Cas. Co., 572

NW2d 565, 572 (Iowa 1997). The problem for the defendant with regard to this argument is that it chose not to be a party to the settlement. GGC concedes that it is not a party to the release in its brief and acknowledges that Iowa Code §668.7 requires the naming of any tort feasor that is to be released citing Aid Ins. Co. v. Davis County, 426 NW2d 631, 635 (Iowa 1988). This defendant also acknowledges in its brief that the release contains no language that would comprise a "satisfaction" as to GGC.

Although the defendant contends in its brief that the Iowa Supreme Court has not considered a case involving consensual driver/owner liability and the signing of a release, in fact it has. In Peak v. Adams, 799 NW2d 535 (Iowa 2011), a party had been injured helping a husband and wife move their belongings with a U-Haul Truck that had been rented. The injured party entered into a settlement agreement with the liability insurance carrier for the owner U-Haul and the husband. The court ruled that the wife remained in the suit because her name was not included in the release and the case would proceed against her. In this case, not only was the Glenwood Golf Corporation not a party to the release, all claims against them were specifically reserved as contemplated by the dictates of Iowa Code §668.7. It is noted in the Peak case that Iowa has a strong public policy favoring settlements. The Comparative Fault Act, including Iowa Code §668.7 is

designed to help effectuate that strong public policy particularly in the situation where there are multiple defendants.

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